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Introduction

The author was asked by IM Forestry to carry out an archaeological assessment of two areas of plantation at Farr in Inverness shire, namely School Wood and Milton Wood. The object of the evaluation was to locate any previously recorded archaeological sites and identify any unrecorded archaeological features, to be used as a database for use in the formation of management policies for the woodland, in order to protect the archaeological record in these areas from damage during felling and replanting, in the creation of access tracks or in the development of the woodlands for amenity or community use. 

Method. 

A desk-based assessment was carried out to identify all recorded archaeological sites or areas of archaeological interest. Information on previously recorded archaeological sites in the general vicinity of the woodland areas was obtained from the Highland Region Sites and Monuments Record, held by the Archaeology Unit at Highland Council in Inverness. A detailed archaeological survey of the Tordarroch area had been carried out by Dr Stephen T. Driscoll of the Department of Archaeology at the University of Glasgow, in July 1989, to identify archaeological monuments threatened by a proposed afforestation scheme. While this survey would not have included the two present survey areas, as both were already afforested, it does offer a detailed picture of the pattern of land use and settlement from prehistoric to modern times in the adjacent area.

The 1st edition Ordnance Survey map of the area was consulted to locate landscape features recorded in the 1870s, and aerial photographs dating to 1947 show features at School Wood before afforestation.

This was followed by a rapid walk-over survey, carried out on 9.1.02 in good, clear weather conditions.

School Wood

School Wood is a 12 hectare plantation adjacent to the B851, on former rough grazing land. The land was not ploughed before planting, allowing for a good survival of archaeological features.The aerial photograph of 1947 shows the area newly planted, while the 1st edition Ordnance Survey map show it devoid of features apart from a dyke cutting across the area to the north, and a trackway crossing it centrally, leading to the school which was then located to the south of this area. The present school, in the NE corner of the plantation, was constructed in 1875.

Archaeological Background

A number of important archaeological sites are located in the vicinity of School Wood, particularly Tordarroch Stone Circle, 250m west of the plantation, and Croftcroy Chambered Cairn, 150m to the south. Other prehistoric sites, including cup-marked stones, several hut circles with associated field systems and a burnt mound, indicate extensive settlement of the land between the Rivers Nairn and Farnack.

The Archaeological Survey

The following archaeological features were located during the walk-over survey:

Site S1. Bank, Enclosure from NH 6849 3355 to NH 6844 3339. A substantial bank, measuring approximately 1m in height and 2m in width at its base, commences a few metres in from the road, and runs WNW for approximately 40m (Photo no. 1)before curving round to run SSW parallel to the road, then turns back towards the road. At the road it turns and becomes the dyke running alongside the road (Photo no. 4) until the southern boundary of the plantation and beyond.

Site S2. Boundary Dyke at NH 6844 3339 The remains of a dyke running parallel to the road, set back just within the trees, it is only marked by a few remaining large stones to the north. It is better defined to the south, and clearly terminates just before it joins the dyke of Site 1.

Site S3  Bank, Dyke at NH 6844 3343. This poorly visible remains of probably a stone and turf dyke runs approximately parallel to, and 15m in from the road (Photo no. 2) It is marked mainly by rows of large stones, its north end was not located, but to the south it joins the dyke of Site 1. 

Site S4. Possible Structure at NH 6843 3342 What appears to be the corner of a structure, indicated by rows of placed stones measuring 4m in length NW-SE and 3m NE-SW (Photo no. 3) What may be a small quarry, or borrow pit for roadbuilding material is located NNW of this, and may be associated.

Site S5. Bank, Dyke from NH 6841 3388 to NH 6852 3376 A broad turf bank, with a ditch to its south (Photo no. 5) This feature is marked on the 1st edition Ordnance Survey map as commencing at the west boundary of the present plantation and running to the road through the area now occupied by modern housing south of the school. The aerial photograph indicates that this dyke or bank may originally have continued west and south, two sections of a linear feature are visible running between the north of the plantation and Tordarroch, a distance of approximately 700m. This suggests that this bank was a pre-improvement township boundary.

Site S6. Dyke from NH 6857 3385 to NH 6852 3365 This dyke commences as the drystone dyke forming the boundary of the school playground, then becomes less distinct as it runs behind the modern housing. It continues south of the housing into the wood then turns SE to the road. This dyke is not marked on the 1st edition Ordnance Survey map, and is probably contemporary with the construction of the school in 1875.

Milton Wood

Milton Wood is a plantation of 28 hectares set back from the B851. It consists of an area of former water meadows on the east bank of the River Nairn, the steep bank up from these, and an area of former rough ground west of the improved fields. The 1st edition Ordnance Survey map indicates that one area south of Woodside was already planted with trees before the 1870s, this area was ploughed before planting, as was the wet ground alongside the river, which has now been felled and is in a very waterlogged state. The rest of the plantation is similar in appearance to School Wood, which suggests that it is roughly contemporary.

Archaeological Background.

Fewer prehistoric sites have been recorded in the vicinity of Milton Wood, although a settlement of five hut circles with associated field systems is located approximately 500m west of the River Nairn. A number of now depopulated farmsteads are also located west of the river, these were named and partly still occupied at the time of the 1st edition Ordnance Survey map, but had generally fallen out of use by the time of the 2nd edition map in 1905.

The 1st edition Ordnance survey map records a number of features in what is now Milton Wood, notably the inhabited houses at Birchbank and Woodside (still inhabited now) and the mill, sawmill and smithy with a millpond and a drain or tailrace leading west to the river. Several tracks also cross the area.

The Archaeological Survey

The following archaeological features were recorded during the walk-over survey:

Site M1. Dyke at NH 6799 3238 A row of large stones running 5m in from the present boundary fence indicate the remains of a former dyke, probably constructed of turf and stone (Photo no. 6) This can be followed for approximately 80m before becoming indistinct, running slightly more westerly than the fence. To the west of this dyke line at its north end is a spread of rubble of varying sizes, possibly clearance from the improved fields to the north and east.

Site M2. Dyke from NH 6768 3220 to NH 6785 3211 This bank and ditch is indicated on the 1st edition Ordnance Survey map and is a continuation of a line running across the fields from the Old Inn. It is not very distinct to the east of the knoll in the centre of the plantation, but can clearly be followed west of this, down the bank to the river.

Site M3. Farmstead at NH 6778 3208 The following structures associated with this farmstead were noted:

1. at NH 6780 3210, the remains of a possible rectangular building and attached enclosure. The enclosure is indicated by large moss-covered boulders, forming a rough enclosure measuring 9m WNW-ESE and 8m N-S, utilizing natural large boulders to form its  western side (Photo no. 7). The possible building to its SE measures 4m by 3.5m (Photo no. 8)

2. SE of 1. by approximately 14m is a small D-shaped structure, measuring 4m ESE-WNW

3. at NH 6778 3208, the moss-covered rubble footings of a rectangular building measuring 14m by 5m, aligned NNE-SSW and with one internal division (Photo no. 10)

4. East of the NE corner of 3. by 8m is the beginning of an arc of boulders which runs for approximately 14m towards the fence (Photo no. 9)

5. SE of 3. is an irregularly shaped enclosure, measuring approximately 9.5m by 5.5m, with an entrance to the SE.

6. Heading west from the SW corner of 3. are traces of a turf and stone dyke. This was followed for approximately 50 before becoming indistinct.

Site M4. Dyke from NH 6769 3212 to NH 6773 3201 This turf and stone dyke runs NNW from the point where the old track returns to the plantation. 

Site M5. Tracks These tracks correspond to those marked on the 1st edition Ordnance Survey map. The only section of track not still visible is where the northernmost drops down the bank to the well, which was also not located. Where undisturbed by later access routes, these tracks appear to have been ditched.

Site M6. Dyke at NH 6770 3198. A short section of turf dyke runs in from the fence to join the track, and appears to then turn to follow the SE side of the track towards Birchbank.

Site M7. Building ‘Birchbank’ at NH 6750 3195 The moss-covered rubble walls of a building, standing 2-3 courses high. The building measures 10m by 5m and is aligned NNE-SSW (Photo no. 11). Sections of walling suggest an attached enclosure to the west (Photo no. 12). This building is named as Birchbank on the 1st edition Ordnance Survey map, and was roofed in 1874. Three tracks converge on the site, and a drain runs SW down the bank.

Site M8. Structure at NH 6764 3188 A possible structure, consisting of an L-shaped pile of stones measuring 4m. by 2.5m and aligned WNW-ESE. Some stones appear to have been placed to form a short land at the WNW end, but the other end appears to consist of small field clearance stones. It is possible that an original structure has been later used for field clearance.

Site M9. Mill tailrace from NH 6752 3202 to NH 6784 3173 This artificial channel is now dry, but runs from immediately north of the site of the former mill, crossing the plantation as far as the bottom of the bank, then turns NE to run along the base of the bank before joining the river. This last section has been obliterated by ploughing and felling operations.

Site M10. Millpond at NH 6780 3137 This millpond is marked on the 1st edition Ordnance Survey map, but little is visible on the ground except a depression in the garden of  New Cottage, and a drain running west then north to join the tailrace proper, presumably an overflow channel. New Cottage is built on the site of the smithy, and two cottages have been built on the site of the sawmill, while the mill itself has been removed entirely, leaving slight grassy footings north of the fence.

Site M11. Dyke from NH 6742 3182 to NH 6756 3172 A substantial turf and stone dyke with a ditch to the south, runs as a continuation of the boundary dyke from the road to the bottom of the bank.

Site M12. Dyke from NH 6745 3179 to NH 6743 3152 This turf and stone dyke forms the boundary of the area of plantation in 1874 (Photo no. 13)

Archaeological Conclusions

No prehistoric features were located in either of the survey areas. Some of the features, particularly the turf dykes, the enclosure within School Wood and possibly the farmstead within Milton Wood, which is not marked on the 1st edition Ordnance Survey map, would appear to date to pre-improvement settlement and land division. The rest of the features, most of which are recorded on the 1874 map, would appear to be mid-19th century Estate improvements. It is recommended that a future management strategy for the woodland should include the manual clearing of the trees from around the features of the Milton Wood farmstead, and leaving this site clear of replanting, and that Birchbank and the other sites identified in this survey should also be protected from accidental damage during any future forestry work.

The Photographs

1. Site S1 Dyke or bank of enclosure, view of northern section, from the west.

2. Site S3, Remains of turf and stone dyke, view from the NE

3. Site S4, Possible structure, view from the NE, the corner of the structure is centre foreground.

4. Site S1, Dyke running along road, view from NE

5. Site 5. Dyke, view from the W.

6. Site M1, Remains of Dyke, view from the N.

7. Site M3:1, Enclosure, view from the NE

8. Site M3:1, Building, view from the S.

9. Site M3:4, Stone arc, view from the E.

10. Site M3:3, Building, view from the NE.

11. Site M7, Building, “Birchbank”, view from the S,

12. Site M7, Birchbank, building and enclosure, view from the N.

13. Site M12, Dyke, view of corner from the S.
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